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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA
INDIANAPOLIS DIVISION
DIRECTV, LLC,
Plaintiff,

VS. No. 115-cv-00104IJMS-TAB

N N N N N N

VICTOR A. SPINA, individually, and as of-)
ficer, director, shareholder, principal )
manager, and/or member of Martinsvil )
Corral, Inc. al/k/a Victor A. Spina, Jr.)
MARTINSVILLE CORRAL, INC. d/b/a Texas )
Corral a/k/a Shelpville Texas Corrgland )
WiLLIAM  SPINA a/k/a William Anthony )
Spina, Jr, )

Defendans. ;
ORDER
Presently pending in this case brought undefFgaeralCommunications Agt47 U.S.C.
§ 605, and the Electronic Gomunications Privey Act, 18 U.S.C.§ 2511, are: (1) a Motion for

Summary Judgment filed by Plaintiff DirecTV, LLCOirecTV"), [Filing No. 79; (2) a Cross

Motion for Summary Judgment filed by Defendants Victor Spina, &villSpina, and Martinsville

Corral, Inc. (MCI”), [FEiling No. 10§; and (3) a Motion for Sanctions filed by DefentiaWictor

Spina, William Spina, and MCIFfling No. 103.

This litigationinvolves claims by DirecTV that Defendants displayed DirecTV @nogr
ming in two commercial establishments without moputhorization, through a residential ac-
count associated with one of the Defendanteastbeen contentious from the start, and the Motion
for Sanctions demonstratthatthis pattern has continuedecause th#lotion for Sanctions re-
guests that the Court sanction DirecTV by entering judgment in faflvDefendantsthe Court

will address that motion at the outset.
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l.
M OTION FOR SANCTIONS

A. Background

Before discussing the substance of Defendants’ Motion forti®asgit is necessary to set
forth certain backgmund information which illustratésow the parties have reached this point.

The Motion for Sanctions relates to Defendants’ efforts to ddpweeTV’s Rule 30(b)(6)
corporate representative. After therfles were unable to reach an agreement regarding when the
representative’s deposition woutdke place, the Magistrate Judge ordered that it take place on
December 15, 2015 F{ling No. 67] Atthe December 15, 2015 deposition, Defendarmishsel
guestioned theepresentative, and subsequently claimed that the represemtaisvnot properly
prepared to answer questions aaduested that DirecTV voluntarily produce another corporate

repreentativefor questioning [Filing No. 1071 at 22] During a January 26, 2016 telephonic

status conference, the Magistrate Judge ordered DirecTVddupe another representative dor
follow-up Rule 30(b)(6) deposition due to numerous deficiencies in the resgmoseded by the
first Rule 30(b)(6) deponent.”F[ling No. 85] The Magistrate Judge ordered that the didjpos
of the second Rule 30(b)(6) deponent be completed by February 16, Ziik&) Nlo. 85]
Subsequently, thimllowing correspondenc®ok placebetween Defendants’ counsel and
counsel foDirecTV regarding the deposition of DirecTV’s second Rule 30(bgpdasentative:

e OnJanuary 272016,Defendants’ counsel emailed counsel for DirecTV asking
whether DirecTV’s second Rule 30(b)(6) representative would be blatla
resume the depositicon February 10, 2016.

e OnJanuary 28, 2016, counsel for DirecTV responded by advising that the em-
ployee who was to be the second Rule 30(b)(6) withess would be lebging t
employ of DirecTV, that “we are unsure of who eld®BECTYV could produce
as a30(b)6) witness without reproducing [the first 30(b)(6) representhtive
and that “I would propose that we first attempt to nail down the fspecies-
tions you seek answers on by agreeing to a deposition by written questions pur
suant td~ed R Civ P 31(a)(4nd 30(b)(6).” DirecTV’s counsel stated that this
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would “allow DIRECTV to gather the information and answers from the
sources or individuals at DIRECTYV that actually do have the answelsyou

are not satisfied with the answers to the written questions,oué&vef course
revisit who we would produce for an-person deposition in Indianapolis.”

e Later on January 28, 2016, Defendants’ counsel responded by asking when the
second Rule 30(b)(6) representative was leaving the employ of Diyecid
DirecTV’s counsel responded that he was “uncertain as texhet departure
date, but | believe in March.”

e Also on January 28, 2016, Defendants’ counsel responded to DirecTV’s coun-
sel by statig “It is unfortunate that the questions [the first Rule 30(b)(6) repre
sentative] was unable to answer included some relatee typphs of damages
DirecTV seeks to recover. Had those questions been answeredyhehad
expected, this litigation wouldave concluded last month. | will not know
whether DirecTV depos in the state cases will be needed untitladtepcom-
ing Federal deposition conclude®8TW, DirecTV could, if [it] wanted to, still
respond to the discovery | served on it in Decemhgrmwhich | later withdrew.

That may also be a way to bring this case to a quicker resolution.”

¢ Finally, on January 28, 2016, Defendants’ counsel sent and emailed addenew
Notice of 30(b)(6) Deposition on DirecTV for a deposition on February 10,
2016. Defendants’ counsel had not received confirmation from DirecTV’s
counsel that the representatioe counsel would be available that day. The
Renewed Notice of Deposition was also served on counsel involved gtateo
court cases

e The next day, DirecTV'sounsel in the state court cases emailed Defendants’
counsel to express his frustration regarding the Renewed Noticepofidion.
He noted that Defendants’ counsel had not made “any attengmordinate
calendars with the witness or counsel of rec¢aadd that he was not available
on the datefor which the deposition was noticed. Defendants’ counsel re-
sponded that he was “endeavoring to determine a date that works farejer
but“[g]iven that the local rule requires a 14 day notice, and thatrieguired
to serve a notice [of] deposition in order to preserve a right [to] noosempel,
| have to serve the notice first, and then try to work out a finalsgatend.”

e OnJanuary 31, 2016, Defendants’ counsel emailed counsel for Migsking
that he identify dates he would be available for the deposition of the second
Rule 30(b)(6) representative. Counsel forddiFV responded by stating that
DirecTV did not want the deposition to be part of the state court casseslas
and that “we understanyou are seeking answers that may some way help your

! Defendants are involved in state court litigation relatedsarance coverage for the events un-
derlying this lawsuit.
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client trigger coverage however our interests in the feédase are not aligned
with those of the state cases. As such | am very concerned thall sienwiy
repeat the confusing events of Decemlsken you improperly combined dep-
ositions without consent or appropriate Court order.”

On February 6, 2016, Defendants’ counsel emailed DirecTV's cbamsk
stated “I've not received a response from you to my below offetdotake date

or time of the Ebruary 10 deposition of DirecTV’s 30(b)(6) representative.
Therefore, the deposition will proceed at the date and time oifigimaticed.”

DirecTV’s counsel emailed Defendants’ counsel on February 8, 2@1ig
that the February 10 date for the reeevdeposition did not work for most of
the individuals involved, and addressing the substance of the depostii@a no
as well as some other matters.

Later on February 8, 2016, Defendants’ counsel emailed DirecT\Wsseb
stating that he expected the Redry 10 deposition to go forward because Di-
recTV had not responded to his requests for alternate dates, and iaddress
other matters.

On February 102016, DirecTV’'s counsel emailed Defendants’ counsel and
stated “I'd like to discuss the written interedgries in lieu of a deposition with
you, as we have been working toward the last two days between yoelf mys
and [additional counsel for DirecTV].” The email also reitedathat the Feb-
ruary 10 deposition date did not work for either DirecTV or itsnseli and
proposed several additional dates in February and March.

Also on February 10, 2016, DirecTV’s counsel emailed Defendants’ counsel
stating “We need to hear back from you as soon as possible regardeng the
tached interrogatories that you senotwo office yesterday. If we are not able
to come to an agreement re: written interrogatories in lieu pdsigon testi-
mony, please let us know your availability tomorrow and Friday forlactl
Judge Baker to address [several matters].” The emaihggoposed some
dates for the renewed deposition.

On February 11, 2016, Defendants’ counsel sent a third set of intemegd®d
counsel for DirecTV, “per our conversation.”

On February 18, 2016, counsel for DirecTV emailed Defendants’ eband
stated “Prior to our servingrjterrogatoryresponses] on your office, please pro-
vide confirmation, in writing, that said interrogatories were sebyegour of-
fice and answered by our client outside of discovery, by agreementpafrties

in lieu of the ontinued deposition of a representative of DIRECTV, LLC in
person in Indianapolis in an effort to conserve attorney’s costs and Adtes
hough Judge Baker ordered that DIRECTV, LLC produce another repsese
tive for a followrup Rule 30(b)(6) deposition imdianapolis in his Order of
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February 2, 2016, Judge Baker also discussed the possibility of writéen int
rogatories in lieu of deposition testimony during the January 26, 2016 tele-
phonic status conference.”

Later on February 18, 2016, Defendants’ couresponded to DirecTV’s coun-
sel that he did not “see a reason for a need for a confirmatidrthénaterrog-
atories wee served outside of discovemnd that he “never agreed” that the
responses would be in lieu of a deposition. Defendants’ couaset shat he
was not “going to agree to anything until | have the sworn answers in hand.”

DirecTV’s counsel then responded stating “let’s not complicate thingswill
answer the Interrogatories 2 they are untimely 3 the deposition scthddule
prior to 2/16 is not proceeding and 4 you can move for a stay we take no posi-
tion.” Defendants’ counsel responded “[s]o does that mean you aneigit-

ing the answers to me™DirecTV’s counsel emailed and sent the interrogatory
responses to Defendant®unselthe same day, with eover letter stating that
“four stipulations were identified” in DirecTV’s counsel’sbfaary 18, 2016
email to Defendants’ counsel, which Defendants agreed to, includipdp¢
RECTV, LLC’s agreement to answer the third set of iigatories; (2) the fact
that the interrogatories are untimely; [(3)] the parties’ agreerhanttie depo-
sition scheduled for prior to February 16, 2016 is not proceeding; and (4) tha
you can move for a stay as Plaintiff, DIRECTV, LLC takes no positisto
same....”

On February 21, 2016, Defendants’ counsel emailed DirecTV'’s clostasi&g
that he “do[es] not agree with your ‘four stipulations.”

On February 26, 2016, counsel for DirecTV emailed Defendants’ clostase
ing that he had called JudBeker’s chambers that morning to “advise that the
deposition of DIRECTYV did not occur prior to February 16, 2016, as thepatrti
had worked out an agreement regarding written interrogatoriesiioflsame,”
and that hewas attempting to have you patchedvhen | was advised that the
Judge would like us to prepare a short stipulation and get it on E€¥oass
possible.” The email included an attached stipulation &debdants’ counsel’s
review. Defendants’ counsel responded via email the samestdéing “I do
not agree that ‘the parties had worked out an agreement regarding iati¢tre
rogatories in lieu of’ the deposition,” and that he “would be wiltimggree not
to oppose a motion to stay this action for 180 days so we can see liémeaett
can be reached.DirecTV’'s counsel respondebat the onlyissue at that point
was the proposed stipulation, and that “[i]f you believe the languagained

in the attached stipulation is not reflective of your understanding, glease
provide propsed language.”

Having not received a response, DirecTV’s counsel sent@vfolp email on

March 10, 2016 asking for proposed revisions to the stipulation or permission
to file it. On March 11, 2016, Defendants’ counsel emailed DirecTV’s counsel
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offering to stipulatdo only two facts: (1) “[tjhat Defendants properly noticed
DTV for a deposition on-420-16"; and (2) “[t}hat DTV failed to appear at the
deposition.”

DirecTV’s counsel responded to Defendants’ counsel’s elai@it on March

11, 2016statng “I am shocked that you are unwilling to simply put the parties’
agreement of DIRECTV answering untimely interrogatories in lieth@tcon-
tinued deposition of its representative into a stipulation, evereatirection of
Judge Baker,” and that “[t|he emails exchanged between mgafiid yourself
clearly evidence this agreement and it is illogical to belithat DIRECTV
would agree to answer interrogatories served out of time for any retdsn
than in lieu ofan inperson deposition in Indianapsliespecially when this was
the only outstanding issue in the case at the time and was suggested by Judge
Baker during our call with the Court on January 26, 2016. It's clear you are
making this into a discovery dispute and denying the existence ajréenaent

that was clearly in place between the parties. Therefore, pldase gour
availability for a call with Judge Baker next week.”

On March 18, 2016, Defendants’ counsel emailed DirecTV'’s counseliaglvis
that he intended to file “a Rule 37 motibased on DirecTV’s failure to appear
for its 30(b)(6) deposition as ordered by the CbuiirecTV’s counsel re-
sponded the same day that “our records reflect your position to be nohenly i
accurate but also patently false. So for purposes of your nugase under-
stand our position is we will oppose it vigorously should you even get leave of
the Court to file same.”

On June 17, 2016, DirecTV’'s counsel emailed Defendants’ counsel to-mem
rialize a phone conversation they had that day, and to reiter&eTh’s posi-

tion that its agreement to answer the interrogatories outside of twveliy
periodwas in lieu of the deposition. Defendants’ counsel responded “I never
withdrew or agreed [to] withdraw the Notice of Deposition forFebruary 10,
2016 30(b)(6) deposition of DirecTV,” and “I am confident that if you had an
evidence to the contrary, you would have attached it to your erieféndants

filed the Motion for Sanctions that same day.

[Filing No. 1071 at 14162]

B. Standard of Review

A district court may only impose sanctions “where a party displajsiwess, bad faith,

or fault.” Am. Nat. Bank & Trust Co. of Chicago v. Equitable Life Assur. Soc’y of the4065.

F.3d 867, 877 (7th Cir. 2005)‘A district ‘court [does not] posse$s[nfettered discretion to im-

pose sanctions upon a recalcitrant party.’... Accordingly, the methariving at the sanction
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must be fair.... The upshot is that, under the abuse of discretioradame will reverse a dis-
covery sanction if its impositio‘strikes us as ‘fundamentally wrong,’ or is ‘clearly unreasonable
arbitrary, or fanciful.”” Id. at 878(citationsomitted). “A dismissal with prejudice is a harsh
sanction which should usually be employed only in extreme situatidren there is a clear record
of delay or contumacious conduct, or when other less drastic@anbtve proven unavailing.”
Webberv. Eye Corpr21 F.2d 1067, 1069 (7th Cir. 1983¥hen the sanction is dismissgin]is-
conduct may exhibit such flagnt contempt for the court and its processes that to allow the of-
fending party to continue to invoke the judicial mechanism $avwin benefit would raise concerns
about the integrity and credibility of the civil justice system thamndcend the interesof the
parties immediately before the courtBarnhill v. United $tes 11 F.3d 1360, 1368 (7th Cir.
1993) Sanctions for discovery misconduct must be proportionate to themaisct. SeeSalgado

by Salgadw. General Motors Corp150 F.3d 735, 740 (7th Cir. 199@)xplaining that “the sanc-
tion selected [for discovery misconduct] must be one that a reasquableapprised of all the
circumstances, would have chosen as proportidoates infraction”).

Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(bprovides the Court with authority to sanction a party for failure to
comply with a Court orderUnder Rule 37(b)(2), if a party disobeys a discovery order, the Court
can issue an order: (1) providing that “the mateandraced in the order or other designated facts
be taken as established for purposes of the act{@n™"prohibiting the disobedient party from
supporing or opposinglesignated claimar defensé’s (3) “striking pleadings in whole or in part”;

(4) staying proceedings until the order is obeyeddi&nissng the action or rendarg a judgment
by default against the disobedient paeyd (§ treatng the disobedient party’sifare toobey the

Court’'s orderas a contempt of court. In addition, pursuant to Rule 37(b)(2)(€)Cturt must
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order the disobedient party, his attorney, or both, to pay thenable expenses, including attor-
neys’ fees, caused by the failure. Discovery sanstunder Rule 37 serve not only to penalize
misconduct, but also to “deter those who might be tempted to sudhaton the absence efich

a deterrent.” National Hockey League v. Metropolitan Hockey Club,,l427 U.S. 639, 643
(1976)

UnderFed. R. Civ. P. 30(d)(2¥[t]he court may impose an appropriate sanctonclud-
ing the reasonable expenses and attorney’s fees incurred by any paryperson who impedes,
delays, or frustrates the fair examioatof the deponent.” “The alii to sanction a party falls
squarely within the discretionf the district court, which ‘isn the best position to...settle any
discovery disputes’ that arise in litigationBall v. Versar, InG.2005 WL 4881102, *2 (S.D. Ind.
2005) (quotingGile v. United Airlines, In¢.95 F.3d 492, 495 (7th Cir. 1996)It is well estab-
lished that “district courts have ‘wide latitude in fashioningrapriate sanctions.”e360 Insight,
Inc. v. Spamhaus Projedd58 F.3d 637, 642 (7th Cir. 201(juotingJohnson v. Kakvand 92
F.3d 656, 661 (7th Cir. 1999)

Finally, the Court may exercise its “inherent power to faskin appropriate sanction for
conduct which abuses the judicial procesSdlmeron v. Enter. Recovery Sys.,,IBZ9 F.3d 787,
793 (7th Cir. 2009)citation and quotations omitted). A Court’s inherent authority tpoise
sanctions is used “when the situation is grave enough to call fastimas] and the misconduct
has somehow slipped through the cracks of the statutes and rulesgdkie usuakituations.”
Claiborne v. Wisdom14 F.3d 715, 724 (7th Cir. 2005)

C. Discussion

In support of their Motion for Sations, Defendants argue that they have been prejudiced

by DirecTV’s unwillingness to produce a 30(b)(6) representative adalgestrate Judge ordered
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because they are “unable to discover facts that [they] expatitghow that it is undisputed that
DirecTV authorized the receipt of the TV Programming it now allegbave been ‘intercepted

[Filing No. 103 at 1] They assert that entering judgment against DirecTV is an appmepria

sanction, pursuant to eitheed. R. Civ. P. 30r the Court’s inherent authority, because DirecTV
“did not object to thédiscovery]order, serve any objection to the Notice of Deposjtarrfile a

motion for protective order.” Hiling No. 103 at 13 Defendants argue that DirecTV chose to

ignore the Magistrate Judge’s order to produce a witness, and th@otine $iould not allow

DirecTV “to flaunt the rules and disrespect the Court...Filifig No. 103 at 14 Defendants

contend that they compliedith Local Rule 371, and pointo the numerousmails between their

counsel and DirecTV’s counselFiling No. 103 at 1516.] They seek their attorneys’ fees in

connection with the Motion for Sanctiongzil[ng No. 103 at 1415.]

In response, DirecTV argues that Defendants are not prejuditte byck of a deposition
because Defendants’ counsel had ample opportunity to questiongth&0f{b)(6) witness, ah
DirecTV also answered the third set of interrogatories “wkwehe carefully chosen and drafted

by Defendants’ counsel.”Fjling No. 107 at 9 DirecTV notes that the Magistraleidge sug-

gested the second deposition could be completed via interrogatorined Hwetquestions could be
drafted carefully, and that when DirecTV’s counsel notified ttagigtrate Judge’s chambers that
the parties had agreed to use interrogatoriesadsté a deposition, the Magistrate Judge “was

fine” with that. [Filing No. 107 at 910.] DirecTV asserts that the parties had agreed that it would

answer interrogatories outside of Wiecovery period in lieu of a deposition, and that Defendants
have used some of the integatory answers in their Cres4otion for Summary JudgmenfFil-

ing No. 107 at 1Q It alsonotes that Defendants’ counsel last brought up DirecTV’s supposed

failure to produce a corporate representative for the depositioraochNM4, 2016, and did not file
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the pending Motion for Sanctions until June 17, 201f&ree months after that last cocttand just

two weeks before Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment was[dueng No. 107 at 1Q

DirecTV argues that entering judgment against it is not a propetisa under gher Rule 30 or
Rule 37 Specifically, it asserts that dismissal under Rule 30 is inapptefrézause the Magis-
trate Judge suggested that DirecTV could answer interrogatotigdeoof he discovery eriod

in lieu of a depositiopandthat dismissal under Rule 37 is improper because it did not act willfully

or in bad faith [Filing No. 107 at 1114.] DirecTV also arges that Defendants did not comply

with Local Rule 371 because they failed to adequately raise the issue with theli@bome filing
the Motion for Sanction®and because the only effort their counsel made to “medet@nfer” was
a June 17, 2016 phone call which took place on the same day the Motion fioor&awas filed.

[Filing No. 107 at 1516.]

On reply, Defendants deny that they failed to confer with DiresTagunsel regardin

deposition dates. Fjling No. 110 at 4 Theyalso“vigorously deny” that any agreement was

reached regarding DirecTV responding to interrogatories in lieu add¢pesitionand noé that
DirecTV’s counsel has not produced an email or letter menmnglsuch an agreementEiling
No. 110 at 24.] Defendants argue that their counsel raised the issue of fiimagian for sanctions

during a March 24, 2016 telephonic conference with the Magistrate Jiigiieg No. 110 at 4

5.] Defendants also argue that they requested deposition dates from Diveoiévous times, and
eventually noticed the deposition for February 10 because it Haal completed by February 16

and Defendants had to give DirecTV fourteen dawpsice. Filing No. 110 at g They assert that

they need not show prejudice, mlaim they did suffer prejudice because the interrogatories did

not cover all of the topics that would have been addressed at a oepoftiling No. 110 at 7
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They reiterate their arguments that entering judgment agains{lMris an apprpriate sanction,

andthat they are entitled to their attorneys’ fedsilifig No. 110 at &.]

The Court first considers whether Defendants satisfied thegadions under Local Rel
37-1 before filing the Motion for Sanctions. Local RuleBprovides:

(a) Required Actions Prior to Court Involvement. Prior to involving the court
in any discovery dispute, including disputes involving depositiaosinsel
must confer in a good faith attempt to resolve the dispute. Ifalydispute
cannot be resolved in this manner, counsel are encourageddotdbetbam-
bers of the assigned Magistrate Judge to determine whether the ristagist
Judge is available to resolve the discovery dispute by way of a telephone con-
ference or other proceeding prior to counsel filing a formal discawetion....

(b) Requirements of Motion to Compel. In the event that the discovery dispute
is not resolved at the conference, counsel may file a matioompel or other
motion raising the dispute. Any motion raising a discovery disput& oon-
tain a statement setting forth the effortsetako resolve the dispute, including
the date, time, and place of any discovery conference and the naatlgsanf
ticipating parties. The court may deny any motion raising a disgaligpute
that does not contain such a statement.

Defendants primarilyely upon the March 24, 2016 telephone conference with the Magis-
trate Judge to supportits argument that it complied with Local Rule &@uing that their counsel
emailed the Magistrate Judge’s chambers before the conferenadwdseldhat“the Defendnts
desire to file ERule 37Motion due to DirecTV’s failure to appear at its deposition,” thaB6&

entry references discussion of “related matters,” andhleait counsel’'s declaraticonfirms that

a Motion for Sanctions was discussed during the telephone corderfiang No. 110 at 910.]

But the Magistrate JudgeMarch 24, 2016 Order regarding the telephom&ference states “Dis-
cussion held regarding settlement and related matteFdihd No. 93] It does not mentio any
specific discussion of a motion foarsctions related to the 30(b)(6) deposition. The Court is fa-
miliar with Magistrate Judge Baker’s practices and proceglaned finds that if the parties had

discussed a motion for sanctions at the telephonic conferencestMégiudge Baker would have
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reflected that discussion in his gnfrom the conference. In short, the record does not support
Defendants’ version of events and the Court finds that Defenfdaleid to comply with the letter
and spirit of Local Rule 31.

While the Court could deny the Motion for Sanctions on thatkasne, itwill also con-
sider the substance of Defendants’ motion. This litigation has\®¥g contentious, as further
reflected by thenearly 150pages in emails related to the second 30(b)(6) deposition. After re-
viewing the lengthy exhibits relatéd the motion, the Court summarizes the events that led up to
this motion as follows:

o Defendants’ counsel unilaterally noticed the second 30(b)(ppsiteon for

February 10, 2016, without getting a response from DirecTV’s counsetiregar
ing availability,

o Defendants never formally withdrew the deposition notice, but sugghetter
dates for the deposition when it became clear that neither thessinor all
involved counsel were available;

e The parties began discussing the possibility of DirecTV ansgy a third set
of interrogatories in lieu of the 30(b)(6) deposition, and DirecTV plexial-
ternative dates for the deposition should it be necessary;

e Defendants served interrogatories on DirecTV, and Dires@ved responses
to the interrogatories ith the understanding that the responses were in lieu of
the depositionand

e After receiving the responses, Defendants’ couredesed to agree that the in-

terrogatory responses were in lieu of a deposition, began pubkkirdga of the

deposition againand eventually filed the pending motion ngdhree months

after counseldast correspondence with each other regarding the deposition.
These events do not support the award of sanctions under Rulel@B0Ror the Court’s inherent
authority.

First, Rule 37 contemplates sanctions where a party has violated a priorGedeR. Civ.

P. 37(b)(2]B) (providing for the award of sanctions wharparty fails to comply with a court

orderrelating to producing an individual for a deposijiorlere, the Magistrate Judge specifically
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contemplated that a deposition might be avoided if DirecTV agreed teaasgditional interrog-

atories. Heeriling No. 1071 at 34 (DirecTV’s counsel statinmn his Declaration that “[#hough

Judge Baker ordered that DIRECTV produce a 30(b)(6) withesswathdays, he also indicated
during the call that perhaps this dispute could be resolved bemviiiterrogatories in lieu of a
second deposition”; Defendants have not disputed that this occliriddyeover, Defendants’
counsel himself brought up the possibility of interrogatory resgandeeu of a deposition an

email to DirecTVS counsel [SeeFiling No. 1071 at 40(Defendants’ counsel stating in an email

to DirecTV’'s counsel “BTW, DirecTV couldf [it] wanted to, still respond to the discovery |
served ont in December, but which | later withdrew. That may also &g to bring this case
to a quicker resolution”).JThe circumstances here do not indicate that DirecTV violateouat C
order.

Second, Rule 30(d)(2) provides that the Court may impose sanctiores gerson who
impedes, delays, or frustrates the fair examination of therdep.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 30(d)(2)The
communications between the parties indicate to the Court thatTD/ie counsel believed De-
fendants’ counsel had agreed to accept interrogatory responsesohdienducting another dep-
osition. Further, communications also indicate that DirecTV’s acgdwdvised Defendants’ coun-
sel that neither the witness nor all invedlzcounsel were available for a deposition on February
10, and provided some alternate dates. These events do not suppatidn that DirecTV some-
how impeded, delayed, or frustrated the fair examination of the 30(i(@ss.

Finally, the Court declines to award sanctions under its inherent authoritgisésssed
above, the Court finds that DirecTV had a good faith belleised on discussions among counsel
—that Defendants were willing to forego the 30(b)(6) deposition indfegsponses to interroga-

tories served outside of the discovery deadline. Additionally, Defesidsounsel’s conduct was
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not stellar, beginning with unilaterally setting the deposition feefibtaining input from Di-
recTV’s counsel regarding witness and coliasailability, and ending with filing the pending
motion nearly three months after last discussing the issureDuiecTV's counseland without
complying with Local Rule 3.

Put simply, the circumstances indicate at best a misunderstarmtmgdncounsel regard-
ing the significancef the interrogatory responsasd at worst Defendants’ counsel’s use of the
pending motion as a defense tactic. The Court does not find any sarnetiomaduct on the part
of DirecTV or its counsel, and the Motiorrf8anctions iIDENIED in its entirety.

Il.
CROSSMOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

DirecTV has moved for summary judgment against all DefendantsoonGount | of the
Amended Complaint, for violations df7 U.S.C.§ 605, and only as to liability. §eeFiling No.
80 at 1718] Defendantsave crossnoved for summary judgment on all of DirecTV’s claims

[SeeFiling No. 106 at 4

A. Standard of Review

A motion for summary judgment asks the Court to find that a trishmsecessary because
there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and, intheatiovant is entitled to judgment
as a matter of lawSeeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(a) As the current version of Rule 56 makes clear,
whether a partgsserts that a fact is undisputed or genuinely disputed, the pastysapport the
asserted fact by citing to particular parts of the redaadiding depositions, documents, or affi-
davits. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1)(A)A party can also support a fact by showing that the materials
cited do not establish the absence or presencgariaine dispute or that the adverse party cannot
produce admissible evidence to support the feetd. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1)(B)Affidavits or decla-

rations must be made on personal knowledge out facts that would be admissible in evidence,
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and show that the affiant is competent to testify on matteedsta¢d. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(4)Failure

to properly support a fact in ppsition to a movant’s factual assertion can result in the movant's
fact being considered undisputed, and potentially in the grant ohamudgment.Fed. R. Civ.

P. 56(e)

In deciding a motion for summary judgment, the Court need only considetetisfacts
that are material to the decision. A disputed fact igeria if it might affect the outcome of the
suit under the governing lavwdampton v. Ford Motor Cp561 F.3d 709, 713 (7th Cir. 2009
other words, while there may be facts that are in dispute, syymueiyment is appropriate if those
facts are not outcome determinatividarper v. Vigilant Ins. C9.433 F.3d 521, 525 (7th Cir.
2005) Fact disputes thaare irrelevant to the legal question will not be considerattlerson v.
Liberty Lobby, Inc.477 U.S. 242, 248, 106 Gt. 2505, 91 L.Ed. 202 (1986)

On summary judgment, a party must show the Court what evidencethdtavould con-
vince a trier of fact to accept its version of the evedtshhnson v. Cambridge Indu825 F.3d
892, 901 (7th Cir. 2003)The moving party is entitled to summary judgment if no reasonadite fa
finder could return a verdict for the nomoving party. Nelson v. Miller 570 F.3d 868, 875 (7th
Cir. 2009) The Courtviewsthe record in the light most favorable to the /moaving party and
draws all reasonable inferences in that partiggor. Darst v. Interstate Brands Corb12 F.3d
903,907 (7th Cir. 2008)It cannotweigh evidenceromake credibility determinations on summary
judgment becausthose tasks are left to thact-finder. O’Leary v. Accretive Health, Inc657
F.3d 625, 630 (7th Cir. 2011)'he Court need only consider the cited materfadsl. R. Civ. P.
56(c)(3) and the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals has “repeatedly astwelilstrict courts that

they are not required to scour every inch of the record for evidbat® potentially relevant to
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the summary judgment motion before thedgphnson 325 F.3d at 898Any doubt as to the ex-
istence of a genuine issue for trial is resolved against the moving paotysetti v. GE Pension
Plan, 614 F.3d 684, 691 (7th Cir. 2010)

“The existence of crossotions for summary judgment does not, however, imply that there
are no genuine issues of material fackJ. Corman Derailment Servs., LLC v. Int'l Union of
Operating Engineers335 F.3d 643, 647 (7th Cir. 2003ppecificdly, “[p]arties have different
burdens of proof with respect to particular facts; difierdegal theories will have an effect on
which facts are material; and the process of taking the fatieilight most favorable to the non
movant, first for one sieland then for the other, may highlight the point that neither side has
enough to prevail without a tridl Id. at 648

B. Evidentiary Issues

The parties have raised several evidentiary issues in theis bndf because the outcome
of those issuemay effectwhich facts the Court will consad in connection with the crossotions
for summary judgment, the Court must comsidnd resolve those issues at the outSgtecifi-
cally, Defendants object to the consideration of the AffidalvKent Mader and the Affidavit of
Julie Lonstein, and DirecTV objects to the consideration of the Extida of Craig $encer. The
Court wil addresseach objection in turn.

1. Affidavit of Kent Mader

Kent Maderis the Vice President of Risk Management for DirecTMliig No. 799 at

2], and was the corporate representathat DirecTV initially produced as its 30(b)(6) withess
and who the Magistrate Judge found to have provided deficient resporsg depositionHiling
No. 8. Defendants argue that tiAdfi davit “purports to proffer testimony on topics for which

DirecTV failed to produce a prepared Rule 30(b)(6) corporate repatse.” [Filing No. 106 at
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6.] Defendants referenchdir Motion for Sanctions, addressed above, and argue that the Court
could impose the lesser sanction of barring DirecTV from relying arMader’s testimony, but

still allowing Defendants to do soFi[ing No. 106 at §

DirecTV responds by incorporating the arguments it set forth in respgonDefendants’
Motion for Sanctions, and by arguing that eviethhe Court were to disregaMr. Mader’s Affi-
davit, the remaining evidence wdustill show that DirecTV is entitled to summary judgment as

to liability on its claim unded7 U.S.C. § 605[Filing No. 112 at 4

On reply, Defendants argue that DirecTV’s response is inadequatégatickt Motion for
Sanctions “should logically...be decided before ruling on the summary judgnations.” Fil-

ing No. 114 at 4

As discussed above, the Court has found that DirecTV did not enmgagg sanctionable
conduct related to Mr. Madereither in connection with his first deposition, or regarding a second
deposition of a 30(b)(6) representativeefendants have not set forttyyaothervalid reason for
excluding Mr. Mader’s Affidavit, and the Court will considemwhen evaluating the Cro$8o-
tions for Summary Judgment.

2. Affidavit of Julie Lonstein
Julie Lonstein is counsel for DirecTV, asdbmitted an Affidavit which summarizes the

events that have taken place in this litigatidailifig No. 7910.] Defendants argue that the Court

should not consider Ms. Lonstein’s Affidavietause it does not qualify as a sworn declaration
under28 U.S.C. 8l746since it does not recite that g@entents are “true and corréar state the
date on which it was executehd thait doesnot have a handwrittamotarysignature as required

by Local Rule 57 andNew York Executive Law 8§ 137[Filing N0.106 at 6/.] Defendants cite
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a case from the Western District loduisiana where the court found that a similar affidavit sub-

mitted by Ms. Lonstein was “incompetent summary judgment evidenédind No. 106 at 7

DirecTV responds that Ms. Lonstein’s Affidavit is a sworneteent, seheneed notecite
that its contents are true and correct or state tleeatatvhich it was executed beca@8eU.S.C.

§ 17460nly applies to unsworn declarationg=iling No. 112 at § DirecTV also notes that the

Affidavit does reflect the date on which it was signéeiliig No. 112 at § DirecTV argues that

Local Rule 57 allows for electronic signatures for documents relating to aiplgamotion, brief,
or notice filed electronicallgo the notary’s signature need not be handwritten, and that the signa-

ture complies witiNew York Executive Law 8§ 137[Filing No. 112 at§

On reply, Defendats argue that New York law requires a “handwritteatarysignature,
which does not appear on Ms. Lonstein’s Affidagib,the Affidavit is not properly notarized.

[Filing No. 114 ab.]

The partiesappear toagree that the Lonstein Affidavit s sworndeclaration, so is not

subject ta28 U.S.C. 8§ 1746[SeeFiling No. 112 at 5Filing No. 114 at §*[Defendants] agree(]

with DirecTV’s concession that the Lonstein affidavés ‘not within the parameters @8 U.S.C.

8§ 1746).] The Courtnotes that Local Rule-3 does not specifically address whether the signature
of a notary on a document filed electronicallyder an attorney’s ECF ldg and password (as
the Lonstein Affidavit was) must be handwritten. But the Court needecad@whether the Lon-
stein Affidavit complies with Local Rule-3, or withNew York Executive Law 8§ 137The Affi-
davit simply sets forth the procedural history of this case, and the Sl@mpcts that submitting
such an affidavit may be a requirement in some jurisdictions \&hgarty moves for summary
judgment. It is not a requirement in this District, however, andCitwat need not and will not

consider it. Accordingly, Defendants’ objections to the Lonstefid&¥it are moot
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3. Declaration of Craig Spencer
Craig Spencer is the owner and president of Superior Antystams (Superiot), which

is an authorized DirecTV dealerkiling No. 1111 at 22.] Mr. Spencer assigned the subcontrac-

tors that installed the DirecTV systems at Defendgmtgerties that are the subject of this litiga-

tion. [Filing No. 1111 at 23.] DirecTV objects to the admissibility of Mr. Spencer’s June 20,

2016 Declaration Hiling No. 1054], arguing that: (1) it is “virtually a carbaopy” of Mr. Spen-

cer's September 25, 2015 Declarattbat Defendants’ counsel drafted and had Mr. Spencer sign
immediately after his depositierwhich has now been stricken because the parties could not stip-
ulate tothe admissibility ofportions of thdranscript and (2) it contradicts prior sworn testimony
and “was introduced as a sham declaration in Defendants’@tterreate an issue of fact.Fif

ingNo. 112 at § DirecTV further requests that if the Court does not strike ttieeeDeclaration,

it disregard or strike the portions that are hearsay or are incntsigth Mr. Spencer’s earlier

deposition. Filing No. 112 at § DirecTV goes on to detail what it claims are inconsisesnc

between the Spencer Declaration and Mr. Spencer’s depositiondmstirfriling No. 112 at 7

13.] DirecTV argues that a party cannot create “sham” issuestofith affidavits that contradict

their prior depositions.Hiling No. 112 at 13

Defendants respond by arguing that although they submitted the Spentamat@tin
support of their response and Cregwtion for Summary Judgment, all citations to Mr. Spencer’s
statementsra to his deposition testimony, and not to his June 20, 2016 Declardfiding No.

114 at 5 Defendants assert that DirecTV’s objections to the Sgebeclaration are “moot as

that Declaration was not cited or relied upon by MCIFilihg No. 114 at §
Defendants have conceded that the Spencer Declaration esflaops,” and that they are

not relying upon it in connection with their response to DirecTV’s Motor Summary Judgment
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or their CrossMotion for Summary JudgmentFifing No. 114 at§ Accordingly, the Court will

not address #hinconsistencies that DirecTV sets forth, but rather will sirmgbjudethe Spencer
Declarationfrom consideration asis not cited in Defendants’ briefs.

With these evidentiary issues resolved, the Court goes on to aduressbstance of the
CrossMotions for Summary Judgment.

C. Statement of Facts

The following statement of facts was evaluated pursuant to the siargkrforth above
and in light of the Court’s evidentiary rulings.

1. DirecTV's Business

DirecTV is a direct broadcast satellite seryiofering more than 225 channels of televi-

sion and other programming to more than 20 million customers throudpeoutited States.F|l-

ing No. 799 at 3] The satellite programmirigirecTV offers includes major cable networks, local

stations, studio movies, special events programming, and a varigppmw$ and other special in-

terest programming. Ffling No. 799 at 3] DirecTV offers its television programming to resi-

dential and business customers on a subscription anggeayew basis only, and in order to

receive the programmingach customer must obtain DirecTV satellite hardware whiclkides

2 Defendants argue that DirecTV did not include a sectiosldalStatemendf Material Facts in
Dispute” in its response to Defendants’ Crd&stion for Summary JudgmentFifing No. 114 at
3-4.] The Court notes, however, that DirecTV included a sectiats iresponse titled “Defend-
ants’ Alleged ‘Facts,” which responds to each of the factfeDdants set forth in their Cress
Motion for Summary Judgment.S¢eFiling No. 112 at 1419; see alsoFiling No. 112 at 225
(responding to other factual allegations in Defendants’ respoassfaption brief).] This sec-
tion, for all intents and purposes, is DirecTV’s “StatetridrMaterial Facts in Dispute,” although
it is not labeled as such. Defendants also argue that DirecTV ha#etbto evidence for each
fact it has set forth in the fact and argument sections ofiés Filing No. 114 at 3 The Court
notes that all of the parties must support the facts they assertitaitions to admissible, record
evidenceFed. R. Civ. P. 56(c){fA), and the Court will only set forth and consider facts which
are supported by such citations.
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a small satllite dish and a DirecTV integratedcesver/decoder with a DirecTV Accessi@.

[Filing No. 799 at 3] Eachcustomer must also establish an account with DirecIFMin No.

799 at 3] DirecTV sells and distributes the satellite equipmestessary to receive DirecTV
programming and, upon activation of the Access Card by DirecTV, thenceiscan receive and

view the channels to which the customer has subscrilbéichg[No. 799 at 3]

DirecTV charges subscription fees for both residential and coomtherogramming, and
commercial programmg subscriptions are generally more expensive than residentiaripubs

tions. [Filing No. 799 at 4] Residential and commercial subscribers use the sametsatelli

ceiving equipmenthowever, which can lead to commercial establishments moviediteate-
ceiving equipment from a residence to a commercial estaiishin order to receive commercial

programming at the lower residential programming raging No. 799 at 4] In order to combat

commercial misuse of its programming signals, DirecTV usestige¢srs and auditors who help
to identify commercial establishments that are unlawfully exhipiDirecTV residential program-

ming in a commercial settingFiling No. 799 at 45.]

2. The Spinasinvolvement With MCI
Defendants Victor Spina and William Spina are brothers armers of MCI. [Filing
No. 1052 at 1] Victor is the Prsident of MCI, and Williams the Vice President or Secretary.

[Filing No. 7920 at 23.] The only shareholders in MCI are Victor and William Spif&iling

No. 7920 at 3] MCl is a franchisee of Texas CorraFEil[ng No. 7920 at 5]

In 2009, MCI openetMartinsville Texas Corral, dexas Corral franchise amdmmercial

bar/restaurant located at 610 Birk RoadMartinsville, Indiana. [Filing No. 1051 at 1] MCI

opened a second Texas Coifrahchise Shelbyville Texas Corral, in 2011Filing No. 105-1 at

2.] Shelbyville Texas Corral was located at 2103 Intelliplex Driv@helbyville, Indiana. Hiling
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No. 1051 at 2] Both Martinsville Texas Corral and Shelbyville Texas Clofcallectively, the

“Restaurant$ were located in buildings that had previously been restauraftsig[No. 1051

at 1-:2.] Neither Victor nor Williammanagedhe Restaurants. Hiling No. 1051 at 5] Rather,

each restaurant has its own general manadgding No. 1051 at 5] When MCI hirednanagers

for the Restaurant®Villiam made the hiring deasns. [Filing No. 7320 at 7]

3. DirecTV Installation athe Restaurants
When MCI opened the Martinsville Texas Corral in 200®%anted televisionsithe res-

taurant so Williancontacted DirecTV’s local office. Fjling No. 1051 at 1] DirecTV’s repre-

sentative at the local office was Craig Spencer, wholiedt®irecTV through his business, Su-

perior. [Filing No. 1051 at 1] Superior is an authorized agent for DirecT\Eilihg No. 1056

at 56.] Mr. Spencer and the Spinagnt to school together, and hakugown each other for at

least thirty years [Filing No. 1056 at § Filing No. 1056 at 11] Mr. Spencer agreed to outfit

Martinsville Texas Corral with a DirecTV antenna and DirecTV nesrai, and to set up a DirecTV

subscription. Filing No. 1051 at 1] Superior, through a subcontractor, completed the installation

at Martinsville Texas Corral before the restaurant opeaetusiness, and sep @ subscription

service. Filing No. 1051 at 1] Mr. Spencer told Willianthat “the subscription package he

signed us up for was proper and appropriate for the restaurant,adnaetiwere authorized to

receive and display to the public the &V signals at the restaurant... Filjng No. 1051 at 1]

In 2011, when MCI opened the Shelbyville Texas Corral, it again dendtédr. Spencer

to have DirecTV installed at threstaurant. Hiling No. 1051 at 2] Again, Superior had a sub-

contractor go to Shelbyville Texas Corral to install the Direc€bkiversbefore the restaurant

opened for businesgFiling No. 1051 at 2]
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After the installations ahe Restaurantwere complete, MCI was using ten DirecTV re-
ceivers total: seven at Martinsville Texas Corral (six used lievisgon,and one for music only);
and three at Shelbyville Texas Corral (two used for television, andbomeusic only). FEiling
No. 1051 at 2]

4. DirecTV Investigates Usage of DirecTV Programmanghe Restaurantand
Discontinues Service

In mid-2014, DirecTV engaged the services ah auditor, Kevin Karlak, to determine
whether DirecTV satellite programming was properly being dysalatthe Restaurants[Filing

No. 799 at 45.] On June 3, 2014, Mr. Karlak visited Martinsville Texas Corral andrgbd six

television sets, with four of them exhibiting DirecTV satellgrogramming for public viewing.

[Filing No. 799 at 5] The four televisions were displaying DirecTV channel 2NFL Network

programming- and Mr. Karlak &o observed a DirecTV receiveehind a television, a DirecTV
remote control, a DirecTV information banner or black banner at thefttpe screen, and a Di-

recTV receiver with identification number 0294173973%lirfg No. 799 at 5] At the time of

Mr. Karlak’s visit, there werether individuals (either customers or employees) in the restaurant

[Filing No. 793 at 00:37 seconds$

On June 42014, Mr. Karlak visited Shelbyville Texas Corral and observed&evision
sets, with one of them displaying DirecTV satellite programgnfior public viewing. [Eiling No.
799 at 5] The television was displaying DirecTV chan806— ESPN programming and Mr.
Karlak also observed a DirecTV receiver under a television, aldamecTV receier with iden-

tification number 247171, and the black DirecTV information banhéhetopof the screen.

3 Filing No. 793 is a video disc that was manually filed with the Court.
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[Filing No. 799 at 5] At the time of Mr.Karlak’s visit, there were other individuals (either cus-

tomers or employees) in the restaurafilifg No. 796 at 00:24 and 00:33 secorids

When DirecTV received the auditor’s reports, it searched itgdedo determine whether
the Restaurantsad DirecTV commercial accounts and learned that they did[Rding No. 79
9 at 6] DirecTV determined, however, that the receivers usélodrRestaurantsere associated
with DirecTV residential account number 045448353, which is undanahee Victor Spina for

service aht residential addre$scated at 785 East Timber Drive in Martinsvillésiling No. 799

at 6] Account number 045448353 was purchased at a residetga [Filing No. 799 at 6]

The invoices that DirecTV provided for account number 045448353 weressad to

Victor Spina, “ForService at: 78%&. Timber Dr. Martinsville, IN 46158391.” [Filing No. 105

1 at 3] The invoices do not indicate whether the account is “residentid€oonmercial” and, for
the June 21, 2014 inwva®, indicated that service was for ten televisions and totaledampately
$162 for monthly service.

DirecTV’s billing records also indicate that account number 045448353 rnwsgtor

Spina’s name, anlist the addresas 785 E. Timber Dr., Martinswd] IN. [Filing No. 798 at 2]

DirecTV's records list the following locations for the Dir&¢Teceivers that arassociated with
account number 045448353: “living rnoffice, kids rmmaster bed, garage, basement, guest bed,

kids rm, garage, and Ioft.[Filing No. 798 at 1116.] Neither the invoices nor DirecTV'’s billing

records list MCI as the account holderlistrthe addresses of eith@rthe RestaurantdSeeriling

No. 1051 at 3 Filing No. 798.]

On June 30, 2014, DirecTVistontinued programming service for account bem

045448353. Kiling No. 799 at 6]

4Filing No. 796 is a video disc that was manually filed with the Court.
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5. The Lawsuit
DirecTV initiated this actiomn January 26, 201%Filing No. 1],° and filed theoperative
First Amended Complaint on February 6, 20[E5ling No. 7. In the Amended Complaint, Di-
recTV alleges claims against MCI and the Spiras 1) violations of the Feder@ommunica-
tionsAct, 47 U.S.C. § 605(e)(3)(Cand (2) violations othe Electronic Conmunications Privacy

Act, 18 U.S.C. § 251% [Filing No. 7 at 79.] DirecTV seeks a declaration that Defendants vio-

lated47 U.S.C. § 60and18 U.S.C. 511 an injunction preventing Defendants from interfering
with DirecTV’s proprietary rightantercepting, receiving, divulging, or displaying DirecTV’s sat-
ellite programming without prior written consent of DirecTV, andtfar violations; statutory or

actual damages; punitive damages; and attorneys’ fedsg[No. 7 at 11]

D. Discussion
1. Violation of47 U.S.C. § 605
DirecTV moves for summary judgment only as to liability§&@05 violations. $eeFiling

No. 80 at 1718] Defendants crossiove for summary judgment on DirecT\8%05 claim, ar-

guing that they are not liable f8605 violations, nor is DirecTV entitled to damageSedFiling
No. 106 at 45.]
47 U.S.C.§ 605 addresses several types of unauthorized practices related tse of

electronic communicationsAs one court has explained:

> DirecTV originally filed this lawsuit only as to the auditor’s invgation at Shelbyville Texas
Corral, and fied a separate lawsuit, 1:£8-00105TWP-TAB, related to the auditor’s investiga-
tion at Martinsville Texas Corral. The two lawsuits were obdated under this case number on

July 6, 2015. Filing No. 33]

6 DirecTV also asserted a claim for civil conversion in the Amdndemplaint, but the Court
adopted the Magistrate Judge’s Report and Recommendation which recdethgranting De-
fendants’ Motion to Dismiss as it related to the conversiamc [Filing No. 43]
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The Act lists severdypes of unauthorized publication or use of electronic commu-
nications, setting forth separate prohibitions in each sentéct.S.C8 605(a)
The first sentence states:

[N]Jo personreceiving, assisting in receiving, transmitting, or assisting in
transmitting, any interstate or foreign communication by wireadro shall
divulge or publish the existence, contents, substance, purportt, effec
meaning thereof, except through authed channels of transmission or re-
ception...to any person other than the addressee, his agent, oewttor

The second sentence®605(a) states:
No person not being authorized by the sender shall intercept any raato co
munication and divulge or publishe existence, contents, substance, purport,
effect, or meaning of such intercepted communication to any person.
The third sentence provides:
No person nbbeing entitled thereto shall receive or assist in receiviyg an
interstate or foreign communicati by radio and use such communication
(or any information therein contained) for his own benefit or forbreefit
of another not entitled thereto.
Finally, the fourth sentence provides:
No person having received any intercepted radio communicatibavang
become acquainted with the contents, substance, purpet, eff meaning
of such communication (or any part thereof) knowing that such communica-
tion was intercepted, shall divulge or publish the existence, contebts, s
stance, purport, effect, aneaning of such communication (or any part
thereof) or use such communication (or any information therein contained)
for his own benefit or for the benefit of another not entitled thereto.
Joe Hand Promotions, Inc. v. That Place, LL2012 WL 2525653 (E.D. Wis. 201Ritations
omitted). 47 U.S.C.8 605(e)(3)provides a private right of action under the statute for “[a]ny
per®n aggrieved by any violation of subsection (a).47'U.S.C8 605(¢e)(3) 8605(d)(6) defines
“any person aggrieved” as “any person with proprietary rights in thecagiied communication

by wire or radio, including wholesale or retail distributofsatellite cable programming’.. 47

U.S.C.§ 605(d)(6)
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It is not entirely clear which sentence&805 DirecTV is relying o to support its claim,

however it discusses sentence one in the most deBakF[ling No. 112 at 2@DirecTV relying

on the first sentence 8f605 to argue that “even if the Court accepts as true that Defenduatmd’ i
receipt of the DIRECTYV satellite programming [was authex]z the fact that said programming
was divulged constitutes a violation of this section”).] FemtiMCIl addresses BacTV’s § 605

claim as if it is brought under sentence ongilirjg No. 114 at 1ZMCI arguing that DirecTV

relies only upon sentence oneS#05).]

Under sentence one 8605, a fintiff need not show that the defendant was not author-
ized to receive the transmission, but need only show that the dioelge thetransmission was
unauthorized.That Place, LLC2012 WL 525653at *2-3 (“While the second and fourth sen-
tences o8 605(9 require both an unauthorized ‘interceptiand a divulgence of the transmission
in order to establish liability under the Act, the first and thirdesssgs of 605@) do not similarly
require an ‘interceptiorand simply proscribe the unauthorized divulgence or userafunica-
tions which have been ‘receiveldgally for certain purposes....”). Additionally, a plaintited
not show that the defendant knew he was violating sentenad §665. Id. (“Although sentence
four of the Act requires knowledge of the interception, sentencesvameand three of the Act do
not require a knowing violation... In other words, there ismems reaor scienterelement for
violations of sentenceme, two and three of the Act.... Therefore, intent is immateriability[;
]...the statute imposes liability even when ‘the violator was noteaasd had no reason to believe
that his acts constituted a violation.’... As such, knowledge isaptdo aparty’s damages, not
his liability....”) (citations omittedjemphasis in original)The plaintiff has the burden of proving
thata defendant has violate8l605. SeeJoe Hand Promotions, Inc. v. Scarborou@®14 WL

2475980, *1 (N.D. Tex. 2014plaintiff had burden of proof oa 8§ 605 claim and “to obtain
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summary judgment it ‘must establish ‘beyond peradventure all oédkential elements of the
claim”).

The Court will first address DirecTV's claim that MCI viola®&05, thenit will discuss
theclaim thatthe Spinaare vicariously liable for MCI'§ 605 violations!

a. MCI's Direct Liability @

MCI sets forth four main arguments to support its contention thad mati violate§ 605:
(1) that DirecTV does not have a private right of action under tha&etecause it has not pre-
sented evidence that it iSjgerson aggrieved”; (2) that MGVas aithorized to receive DirecTV's
programmingthrough account number 0454483%3) that DirecTV has not presented evidence
thatits programming was actually divulged to the public on June 3 or June 4, 2014) dhdlt,
in any event, it was authorized tordige that programming. The Court considers each argument
in turn.

i “Person Aggrieved”

In opposition to DirecTV’'s Motion for Summary Judgment and in suppbits Cross
Motion, MCI argues that DirecTV has not presented any evidentd thas aggrieved by any
violation of§ 605, and that in fact it was not because all invoices fordbeivers located déhe

Restaurantsvere paid in full. Filing No. 106 at 13Filing No. 106 at 18.9.]

" The Court prefaces its discussion by noting that the partiegswiare organized in a somewhat
haphazard way, often addressing elementssd@d@b violation in connection with DirecTV’s Mo-

tion for Summary Judgment, and then addressing those same elatanitstheir briefs in con-
nection with Defendants’ Croddotion for Summary Judgment. This organization made the
Court’s review of the pendingations unnecessarily cumbersome, and the Court has done its best
to match up each party’s arguments with the appropriate ceamgements.

8 DirecTV refers to “Defendants” when it initially discusses8it805 claim, and then goes on to
address the Spinagcarious liability for § 605 violations. $eeFiling No. 80 at 1617.] Based
on DirecTV’s arguments, the Court assumes that DirecTV isiafjeggdirect claim against MCI
for 8 605violations, and a vicarious liability claim against the SpinasdaseMCI’s violations.
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DirecTV respondshat it is aggrieved because Defendants paid for one residectairdc

and should have paid for two meegpensive commercial accountsiling No. 112 at 383/]

DirecTV also argues that its “proprietary rights” in its prograngriiave been impairedFi[ing
No. 112 at 33
In its reply, MCI reiterates its argument that DirecTV haspresented any evidence that

it is aggrieved. Filing No. 114 at 1(

The Court finds that DecTV has adequately shown that it is a “person aggrieved” under
8§ 605. DirecTV's Vice President of Risk Management, Kent Mader, sunzeain his Affidavit
the nature of DirecTV's programming.Q, that customers must pay for the right to view that
progamming), and stated that “[the unauthorized use of DIRECTV pragragithrough fraud-
ulent conduct has a negative effect upon DIRECTV and lawful conmmheustomers. Further-
more, commercial misappropriation of DIRECTYV residential prognarg results in ignificant
loss of revenue and places legitimate commercial subss@berdisadvantage by having to com-
pete with businesses like Martinsville Texas Corral and Shdleyhexas Corral who unlawfully
acquire DIRECTYV Satellite Programming without payihg tommercial rates.”F[ling No. 79
9 at 7] MCI has not disputed these statements, and the Gadd that they are sufficient to
establish the DirecTV is a “person aggrieved” urlé05. SeeDirectv, Inc. v. Barczewsk604
F.3d 1004, 1005 (7th Cir. 2010PIRECTV is a ‘person aggrieved’ eried to sue unde 605”);
DirecTV, Inc. v. Randy Borq®005 WL 43261, *4 (N.D. Ill. 2005)'The loss of revenue alone
is enough to classify [DirecTV] as an aggrieved party”).

ii. Unauthorized Receipt

In support of its Motion for Summary Judgment, DirecTV argues 8H@5 is a strict

liability statute, and MCI “did not receive proper authorizatiammfrDIRECTYV for the right to

-29-


https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07315474187?page=32
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07315474187?page=33
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07315474187?page=33
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07315504044?page=10
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07315163248?page=7
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07315163248?page=7
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I202bfec15e6b11dfab57d8fd5597ca43/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_506_1005
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I202bfec15e6b11dfab57d8fd5597ca43/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_506_1005
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Ib8667733640411d9a9f4ce36424e17f1/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_999_4

exhibit DIRECTYV Satellite Programming in a commercial establesiirii [Filing No. 80 at 13

DirecTV asserts thei 605 does not require a knowing violation but, in any event, MGluhiyl
and knowingly violate@ 605 because there was no DirecTV commercial accoutitédRestau-
rants and the services associated with account number 045448353 were purthassidaential

rate. Filing No. 80 at 1314.] DirecTV argues that “using equipment activated on a resale

account within commercial establishments was intentional and dorermhmercial gain, and re-
quired scheming and overt acts, justifying the impositf the maximum statutory damages under

the Communications Act.”Hiling No. 80 at 14

MCI responds by arguing that DirecTV has not produced any evidenddl@aised an
“unauthorzed channel of reception” to receive DirecTV programming at, tht the very least,

such fact is disputed.Flling No. 106 at 1€13; Filing No. 106 at 1618] MCI contends that it

received DirecTV programming through receivers that DirecTV owimsthlled, and authorized.

[Filing No. 106 at 14 MCI also asserts in support of its Crédstion for Summary Judgment

that neither it nor the Spinas intentionally intercepted DirecTogm@mming, because they were
told bytheDirecTV representatives that performed the installation that “tlegpieand display of
DirecTV communications on the televisions connected to DirecT&lvers at the restaurants was

authorized.” Filing No. 106 at 14

On reply and in response to Defenti& CrossMotion for Summary Judgment, DirecTV
argues that Defendants did not receive proper authorization fnreaTV for the right to exhibit
DirecTV programming at a commercial establishment, baerahat the account was a residential
one allowingVictor Spina to receive DirecTV satellite programming at theiseraddess on the

invoice [Filing No. 112 at 221)]
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In its reply in support of its Croddotion for Summary Judgnmé, MCI argues that Di-
recTV has not established that it violaf805 because not having an “account” is not an element
of a8 605violation—what is relevant is whetheraeipt of DirecTV's programming was author-
ized, and it was because DirecTV’s “system installer” told M@k the receipt and display of
DirecTV programming on the receivers they installed atRbstaurants was authorizefFiling
No. 114 at ] MCI asserts that DirecTV has not presented any eval#rat having a commercial
account is theexclusive method by which it wasithorized to receive and publicly display Di-

recTV programming. Hiling No. 114 at 1§ MCI also contends that DirecTV has not detailed

what records it searchéd determine whether MCI was authorized to receive Direpiiogram-
ming, how the search was done, whether the search would have uncovered cjasedwrent
accounts, and whether DirecTV creates an account everyttanthorizes others to view or dis-

play its programming. Hiling No. 114 at 1 MCI argues that MClI’'s address of 1925 PO Box,

Martinsville, IN appears on a document provided by DirecTRilifg No. 114 at 0 (citing Filing

No. 1058 at 1] It acknowledges that “[n]either party has been able to find gmediagreement
between DirecTV and MCI,” but argues that such an agreemamtvonly support a possible

breach of contract claim, not a claim ung&05. [Filing No. 114 at13

DirecTV need not show that MCI was not authorized to receiy@agrammingor some-
how intercepted itto prevail on a claim under sentence ong 605. SeeThat Place, LLC2012
WL 2525653at *2-3 (“the first and third sentences 605(e) do not...require an ‘interception’
and simply proscribe the unauthorized divulgence or use of commiongavhich have been
‘received’ legally for certain purposes’However, because it is a bit unclear which sentenge of
605 DirecTV is proceeding under, and since a sentence two viotit@srequire an unauthorized

receipt,id., the Court will discuss this issue.
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Here, the undisputed facts indicate that MCI did not have a cocrahaccount with Di-
recTV, let alone any type of account. Account number 045448353, whichrtlesagree is the
account associated with the DirecTV receivers located wii@iRestaurants, was associated with

Victor Spim, for services at a residential addref&eeFiling No. 799 at 6]° Accordingly, MCI

was not “authorized” to receive DirecTV programming aRbestaurantthrough account number
045448353- the only account Defendants rely on to support their argung&seDirecTV, LLC

v. Kaser 2014 WL 3735237, *2 (E.D. Mich. 2014defendant company which had a residential
account in owner’s name but displayed DirecTV programming at comahestablishment was
not authorized to receive communication and was liable ugh@65) J&J Sports Productions,
Inc. v. Dabrowski2015 WL 9304347, *3 (N.D. Ill. 2015where defendant allegedly had only a
residential acount but displayed programmingn icommercial establishment, coustated
“[w]hichever method obtained the broadcast of the Program, it isputeid that [the dehdant
restaurant] displayed the Program and failed to pay the proparfeenimercial use of the broad-
cast. This fact alone is enough for summary judgment in favor off{ifff). The Court finds
that MCI was not authorized to receive DirecTV prognaing. MCI did not have an account with
DirecTV, and the account listed under Victor Spina’s name wasdengisl account which was

not associated with the Restaurants.

9 The Court does not find it relevant that the invoice may have beetoddClI's post office box.
[SeeFiling No. 1058 at 1(DirecTV billing record reflecting “Billing address” as a post offizox
associated with MCI).] The same document that lists MCI’'s addreshe billing address also
lists the “Service address” as the residence locaté8=E. Timber Dr., Martinsville, IN. Hiling
No. 1058 at 1] Where service is supposedly being provided is the significahtfact where
the invoice is being sent.
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iii. Divulgence to the Public

MCI argues that there is no evidence that the Direpfdgramming the auditor observed
on June 3 and June 4, 2014 was ever divulged or published to anyone, and thatdhevasi tlite
only individual who saw the programming anas authorized to do szecause he was hired by

DirecTV. [Filing No. 106 at 5Filing No. 106 at 15

DirecTV responds that it has submitted video evidence that patnonsmaployees were
presenin the Restaurantghen the auditor observed DirecTV programming being playédng

No. 112 at 2630]

On reply, MCI argue®irecTV has not presented evidence that its programmasyac-
tually divulged to the public because even though patrons and emploggdsave been present
on June 3 and June 4 when the auditor witnedsegrogramming, that does not show that the
programming was divulged or exhibited to them, or “that anydiBglaying DirecTV signals was

even in a location visible to whomever was preserfifling No. 114 at 14

The Court has reviesd the video evidence submitted by DirecTV, and batbhsdshow
that at least one other person was present when the auditor viesvBirécTV programming.

[Filing No. 793 at 0037 secondsFiling No. 796 at 0024 seconds and 00:33 secohdsloreo-

ver, theSpinas stated in their Declarations that they were not prasém Restaurants on either

June 3 or June,£2014. Filing No. 1051 at § Filing No. 1052 at 1] Presumably at least one
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employee must have been present at the Restaurants wheditbeaas there, since theeRtau-
rants were open for busine¥sDirecTV has sufficiently established that its programming was
divulged to the public during the auditor’s visits on June 3 and June 4, 2014.

iv. Unauthorized Divulgence

Finally, MCI argues that, in any evemtyen if it diwlged DirecTV programming to the
pulic, it was authorized to do dmecause it was authorized to receive that programming

DirecTV contends that even if the residential account wasiassdavith the addresses of
the Restaurants, authorizing themreceive the DirecTV programming there, they still did not

have the right to divulge that programmg. [Filing No. 112 at 2] DirecTV reiterates its argu-

mentsrelated to unauthorizekceipt emphasizing that MCI “at no point had an account with

DIRECTYV, either residential, or commercial.Filing No. 112 at 3€B1.]

On reply, MCI focuses on its argument that@smuthorized to receive DirecTV program-

ming, and that thBirecTV installer represented that was theeaFiling No. 114 at 7] It argues

that as long athe receipt of the programng was authorized, thdivulgence of that programming

was authorized as well.F[ling No. 114 at 1]

Other courts that have considered this issue in a siraittwdl| settingwhere the program-
ming was obtained through a residential account and then divulgembmraercial settinghave
found that a violation o§ 605 occurred regardless of the defendant’s intent or knowle8ge.
Kaser, 2014 WL 373523,/*2 (where bar was using residential account billed to bar owresis r

dence, court found it violategl605 and stated “it is undisputed that Defendants receivediflaint

10 Additionally, at least one district court has held that DirecTV programminglivakyed to the
public even when only the auditor was present, without ampmstbecause “the auditor entered
the [commercial establishment] as a member of the publicDIRECTV, LLC v. Perugini28
F.Supp.3d 351, 355 (M.D. Pa. 2014)
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interstate communication and divulged ttentents thereof to people other than the addressee
without the proper authorization to do so. That is, Defendants useattount on which Hal
Kaser was the addressee for the purposes of displaying the commnansid¢einsmitted to that
account to thewstomers of the Bar”; Court also noted that the fact that DiWeoStaller told
defendant it could pay the lower residential rate becdwsasia small business was irrelevant to
the issue of whether defendants were liablee Hand Promotions, Inc. v. Zar2013 WL
5526524 (N.D. Ill. 2013fwhere DirecTV mistakenly set up residential account for coroialer
establishment, and sent bills directly to commercialbéistament, defendant was liable ®605
violation because the statute “essentially provides for strict kgbitlefendant “ddl not pay the
proper fee for commercial use of the broadcast,” and “[pJublicatidheobroadcast to patrons in
the bar was thus unauthorized, resulting in a violatiog @5(a)”); That Place, LLC2012 WL
2525653 at *4(where defendant lived in apartment above tavern he owned, purchased\Di
services for the building, and was charged residential rate, IselialzZle unde8 605 because
“[e]ven accepting there was no unauthorized ‘interception’ becaeserdant] was authorized to
receive the Broadcast, the defendants have still violated the Aaaideethey were not authorized
to ‘divulge or publish’ the Broadcast to the patrons of a commegstablishment....”)National
Satellite Sports, Inc. v. Eliadis, In@53 F.3d 900, 916 (6th Cir. 200¢ven though [defendant]
did not intercept the communication in question, it nonethelesdgeid the telecast of the event
to an unauthorized addressee in violation offitlse sentence of 605(a)”).

As these cases have recognized, what Mr. Spencer or the sultconitae installed the
DirecTV receivers athe Restaurant®ld MCI or the Spinas is irlevant. t is undisputed that

MCI did not have a commercial accounbr any account- with DirecTV, and that MCI was
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displayingDirecTV programming at the two restaurants on June 3 and June 4,2&btdingly,
MClI is liableas a matter of lawnder§ 605.
b. The Spinas’ Vicarious Liability
DirecTV argues in support of its Motion for Summary Judgmenthie®pinas are vicar-
iously liable for MCI's violations 0§ 605 because they are-owners and principals ofie Res-
taurantsare the only individuals who hold a financial interest in thergéies, hired managerial
staff and defined managerial roles, and “had the right to supervise amdl tla infringing ac-

tivities and a financial stake in the businesseBilifg No. 80 at 17 DirecTV points to discovery

responses from the Spinas, and also their deposition testimony, totstppmguments.
The Spinasespondhat DirecTV did not identify a claim for vicarious liability in itta$e-

ment of Claims, so cannot ngursue such a claim.Filing No. 106 at 29 They also contend

that8 605 does not provide for vicarious liability and because it is anfodl statute” it must be

“strictly construel, and any ambiguity must be resolved in favor of lenitfilifg No. 106 at 22

23] The Spinas assert that vicarious liability “has never been found tpplieadle to claims

under[8 605] by any precedential court.Fi[ing No. 106 at 23

On reply, DirecTV again argues ththe Spnasare the only individuals whisgave an own-
ership interesin the Restaurantgnd also the only individuslwho make the major decisions,

including the hiring of general managergilihg No. 112 at 3435.]

In its reply, the Spinas argue that DirecTV did nopoesl to their arguments that a claim

for vicarious liability was not identified in the Statement of Clgiand that vicarious liability has

not been recognized und@605. [Filing No. 114 at 19
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It does not appear that the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals has seftii@s/icarious
liability claim under§ 605, or set forth the standard for determining whether an individual defend-
ant is vicariously liable for & 605 violation. Several district courts within the Seventh Circuit
and other Circuit Courts of Appedloweverhaverecognized such a claim and hdweand that
an individual is liable fora § 605 violation where he’(1) has a right and ability to supesei
violations; and (2) possessas obvious and direct financial interest in the miscontudt& J
Sports Productions, Inc. v. La Pica #3 LLZD16 WL 1389979, *3 (E.D. Wis. 201@jiting Softel,
Inc. v. Dragon Med. & Sci. Commun418 F.3d 955, 971 (2d Cir. 199;73ee alsal&J Sports
Productions, Incv. Ruiz 2015 WL 587060, *3 (N.D. lll. 2015)'Courts generally findhatalle-
gations are sufficient to allege individual liability where tedendant was personally involved in
the unlawful interceptior or had supervisory capacity or control of the place where the intercep-
tion occurred- and benefited financially from thaterception”).

The Court disusses at the outset the Spinagjluments that DirecTV did not identify a
vicarious liability claim in its Statement of Claims, that thereotsanvicarious liability claim under
§ 605, and that DirecTV did not respond to these arguments so has waivggpbasition to them
and the Spinas are entitled to judgment as a matter of law. dume ites that, ironically, the
Spinas did not respond to DirecTV’s arguments regarding the Spinab/enventin supervision
of the Restarants so may be subject to waiver themselves. Indeed, thiegduriefs on this issue
are similar to twaships passin@ the night. Because of this, the Court will addressibatsof
both DirecTV’s and the Spinas’ arguments, aetthe possibiliy of waiver aside.

First, the Spinas are correct that DirecTV did not specificstifiye in its Statement of
Claims that it was basing its claim against the Spinas on a thieaadous liability. SeeFiling

No. 76] DirecTV did, however, make it clear that it was assertinggtb@5 claim against all
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Defendants. Hiling No. 76 at 12 (DirecTV referring to “Defendantgh connection with it§ 605

claim).] One purpose of the Statement of Claims is to put defendants oa nbthe claims they
must defend against. DirecTV’s Statement of Claims does jusbthatating that it is asserting
a8 605claim against all Defendants. The fact that it did not includeeim “vicaious liability”
is inconsequential

Second, while the Seventh Circuit has not specifically addresgiedrious liability claim
under 8 605 or set forth the standard under which such a claim should be esiabhatSpinas
have not cited any Seventh Circuit casgigcting such a claim. Andumerous district courts
within the Seventh Circuit have recognized such a cl&ee, e.gDabrowskj 2015 WL 9304347
at *4-5 (discussing imposition of liability against individual un@e805);Joe Hand Promotions,
Inc. v. Speakeasy GB, LL.2013 WL 64630, *2 (E.D. Wis. 2018jnding that individual defend-
ants werevicariouslyliable for § 605 violations). The Court rejects the Spinas’ argument that an
individual cannot be held vicariously liable un@e051*

Finally, the Court turns to the substance of DirecTV’s vieggilability claim against the
Spinas. DirecTV supports its vicarious liability claim with the following ungliged facts:

e Victor and William Spina ownand have a financial interest MCI andthe
RestaurantdFiling No. 7920at 2 Filing No. 7921 at 68];

e Victor Spina is President of MCIE[ling No. 7920 at 3;

e Victor and William Spna are the only shareholders in MGHiling No. 7920
at3;

e William Spina is an officer of MCI Hiling No. 7921 at J;

e Victor and William Spina are the individuals that make “major” or “ligti-
sions for the restaurantgiling No. 7921 at 34; Filing No. 7921 at 10;

11 Defendants’ argument thgt605 is a criminal statute so mustdmnstrued liberally is unavail-
ing. Thisis a civil lawsuit, and neither MCI nor the Spinas faiceical charges undeg 605.
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e William Spina hirel the managers for the Restaurafiéging No. 7920 at 7;
and

e William Spina provided the managers with their job descriptions and list of du-
ties, [Filing No. 7921 at 4;

The Spinas refer to the followingnhdisputedacts in oposing DirecTV's motion:

e They do not manage eithefthe Restaurantgather, both restaurants are man-
aged by a full time general marag Filing No. 1051 at §;

e Neither of them wagresent at eitheof the Restaurant®n June 3 or June 4,
2014 during the time DirecTV’s auditor was there and observed DirecdV
gramming [Filing No. 1051 at 5 Filing No. 1052 at 1; and

¢ MClis aninvestment for them, and they both have other jobs unrela#difo
[Filing No. 1051 at § Filing No. 1052 at 1.

Under the first part of the test to determine whether an individwalasiously liable-the
right and ability to supervise violationsthe facts the parties have presented are a hikynu
DirecTV has established thdttet Spinas are the only owners of MCI and the Restay@mdshat
they were the individuals who made “major decisions” for the restgsjrmcluding the hiring of
general managersBut the Spinas have established teath restaurant hadfall -time general
managerthat the Spinas were not involved in restaurant managethabhoth had other jobs,
thatboth treated the &taurants as an investmesud that neither was present when the auditor

observed the DirecTVrpgramming*?

21t is undisputed that the Spinas were not present at eithaurast on June 3 and June 4, 2014,
when the auditor observedrBcTV programming. This fact, however, is not dispositive as the
focus is on the Spinas’ right and ability to supervise the progragyand not whether they actu-
ally exercised that rightSeeJoe Hand Promotions, Inc. v. Jorgens@013 WL 64629, *3 (E.D.
Wis. 2013)(denying defendant’'s summary judgment motion even though he was nobditlesta
ment duringg 605 violation,and stating “[s]urely, defendants do not, and cannot, argue that [de-
fendant] is not liable for anything that occurs at his business ebtalelnd while he is not physi-
cally present”).
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Essentially, DirecTV has estiedhed that the Spinas own theegtaurants, which isot
enough to establish that they had the right and ability to superviagiond. SeeDabrowskj 2015
WL 9304347 at *5(holding that emblishing that defendant owned café and was an officer, had
supervisory capacity and control over the activities occurringmilie café on the day violation
occurred, and that café exhibitedevision programming that is believed to be of interegato
trons was insufficient tentitle plaintiffto summary judgmentand stating [f] acts supporting an
individual’s right and ability to supervise must point to control ovelirifrenging conduct itself,
rather than merely demonstrate ownership of thdksteent”);J&J Sports Productiondnc. v.
Walia, 2011 WL 902245, *3 (N.D. Cal. 201(ih order to establish that individual defendant had
right and ability to supervise infringing conduct, plaintiff must shbat defendant “had supervi-
sory power over the infringing conduct itself’RirecTV hasalsoestablishegdhowever that the
Spinasmade “major decisions” for the restaurants, which could be enoughptmse vicarious
liability depending on what types of decisions they made. In sherCourt finds that there are
sufficient factual disputes such thaither DirecTV nor the Spinais entitled to summary judg-
ment on the vicarious liability clairft. The facts underlyinghis claimwill need to be more fully

developed at tal, andsummary judgmeris not appropriate at this tinté

13 Because the Court finds that neither side has conclusively skiblihether the Spinas had
the right and ability to supervise the infringing conduct, it need¢osider the second part of the
analysis— whether the Spinas had an obvious and direct financial interes miitonduct. By
all accounts, however, the Spinas were the only individuals who hadreifl interest in MCI
and the Restaurants.

4 The Court notes some irony with the Spinas’ positions in this litigatOn the one hand, they
argue that the DirecTV invoice which clearly lists Victor Spinahasdcipient and a residence as
the service addressas sufficient to allow MCI to receive and display DirecTV prograngnat
the Restaurants. On the other hand, they distance themselves €bm kbnnection with the
vicarious liability claim, arguinghat they were largely uninvolved with decisioraking.
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In sum, DirecTV is entitled to judgment as a mattdawofon its§ 605 claim against MCI,
but neither DirecTV nor Defendants is entitled to summary judgoreliirecTV’s vicarious lia-
bility claim against the Spinas because material factsalkes remain regarding the Spinas’ right
and ability to supervisg 605 violations.

2. Violation of§ 2511

Defendants crossiove for summary judgment on DirecTV’s claim und&r U.S.C.§
2511 That statute provides relevant part

Except as otherwise speciilly provided in this chapter any person who

(a) intentionally intercepts, endeavors to intercept, or procures anypehssn to
intercept or endeavor to intercept, any wire, oral, or electcmmumunication;

* * *

(c) intentionally discloses, or endeavors to disclose, to any othempire contents
of any wire, oral, or electronic communication, knowing or havigson to
know that the information was obtained through the interceptiowaka oral,
or electronic communication in violation of this subsection;

(d) intentionally uses, or endeavors to use, the contents of any wikegoeec-
tronic communication, knowing or having reason to know that the information

was obtained through the interception afiee, oral, or electronic communica-
tion in violation of this subsection...

* * *

shall be punished as provided in subsection (4) or shall be subjedtas provided
in subsection (5).

18 U.S.C8§2511

Defendants argue that they are not liable uB®&11 as a matter of law because there was
no interception of an electronic communication, no defendant acesdiortally, and DirecTV’s
programnmg is readily accessible to the general public (including by thegabDenver Inter-

national Airport). Filing No. 106 at 2€21.]
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In response, DirecTV augs that Defendants intercepted DirecTV programming because

they were not authorized to receive the programmingeaRestaurants[Filing No. 112 at 33

It contends that its progmaming is not readily accessible to the general public, but rathgros
viewable by the public when at commercial establishimtéatshave commercial accountgiling

No. 112 at 34 DirecTV also arguethat Defendants acted intentionally, “as they intentionally
ordered and added receivers to a residential account and indtaed éceivers in different loca-

tions, for their own financial gain and/or commercial benefiEflifig No. 112 at 34

On reply, Defendants argue that they did not intentionally intercept DV programming
because they were “told by the DirecTV representatives th&drpexd the instdtion that the
receipt and display of DirecTV communications on the televisions cathexDirecTV receivers

atthe restaurants was authoriZednd because they used DirecTV receivéFsling No. 114 at

12-13; Filing No. 114 at 1§ Defendants reiterate their argument that DirecTV programising
readily accessible to the general public, stating that “986,000 travelers’ going through the

Denver airport comprise the ‘public’ under any definition, eveneaf/thre ‘paying customers.

[Filing No. 114 at 13 Defendants assert thairBcTV has not offered any evidence that they

intended to intercept DirecTV programminfFiling No. 114 at 1§

To succeed on it§ 2511 claim, DirecTV must show that Defendantsrirepted the pro-
gramming, and that thaterception was intentionall8 U.S.C 8 2511 (imposing liability for any
person who intentionally intercepts an electronic communicatiohg Qourt has already found
that MCI intercepted DirecTV programming. MCI did not have a coramaleaccount with Di-
recTV, and the only account which is potentially applicable wake name of Victor Spina for
services provided & residential address. For theasons discussed above, the Court rejects De-

fendants’ argument that there was no interception of DirecTV progiagn
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Further, the Court is puzzled by Defendants’ argument that Direcd@famming is read-
ily available. It is not. Rather, subscribers mpay a subscription fee and may only display
programming in a commercial setting when there is a commercialat Defendants’ argument
that DirecTV programming is readily accessible to the gdnmrblic because a large number of
people can view it wite travelling through Denver International Airport misses thekm®enver
International Airport presumably pays to be able to display that programamdthe Court will
not find that DirecTV’s programming is readily accessible based oaridahts’ speulation re-
garding the agreement DirecTV has with Denver International Airgdefendants know as well
as any other DirecTV susbriber (residential subscribeén, the Spinas’ case) that DirecTV’s pro-
gramming is not free.

Finally, as to thentent elemenof DirecTV’s § 2511 claimDefendants contertthat they
did not intentionally intercept DirecTV programming because the lestald them they were
entitled to receive programmirgg the RestaurantsA reasonable jury could conclude that the
Spinas wee innocent bystanders and a rogue installer set up a cheaper reseteatiadt for their
two commercial establishments. Conversely, DirecTV pamits records, which list the receiv-
ers as all being installed atesidence in various locations.g, loft area, kids’ bedroom, base-
ment). Further, the invoice clearly stated it was “[f]or [s]@®i[a]t” the residential addressot
the Restaurants. Based on these facts, a reasonable juryndeultiat the Spinas worked with
their former school alm, the installerto set up a residential account for their commercial estab-
lishments, knowing that thigpe of account would be less expensive. Because a reasonable jury
could reach different results based on the fabtsQourt cannot conclude at the summary judg-
ment stage that Defendants did not intend to intercept DirecTV programmingecordingly,

denies Defendants’ Cro#8otion for Summary Judgment on DirecT\822511 claim.
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3. Injury to Reputation, Goodwill, and Ppoietary or Privacy Rights
Defendants argue in their CreB®tion for Summary Judgment that to the extent DirecTV
asserts some sort of claim to recover damages for injuryrtepigation, goodwill, or proprietary
or privacy rights, they are entitled toremary judgment because DirecTV has not identified any
legal theory which would entitle it to recover such damages in iterSént of Claims [Filing

No. 106 at 2122.] DirecTV respmds that'any discussion or analysis of damages is premature.”

[Filing No. 112 at 34 Defendants do not address this argument in their re@geHiling No.

114]

From reviewing DirecTV’'s Statement of Claims;il[ng No. 7§, and considering Di-
recTV’s position in its response that any discussion of damageensature, the Court gathers
that DirecTV’s request for damages related to injury to reputagioadwill, and proprietary or
privacy rights is nba separate “claim,” but a description of thipes of damages DirecTV seeks
in connection with itg 605 aml § 2511 claims. DirecTV only moved for summary judgment on
liability, and the Court has denied Defendants’ Giidsgion for Summary Judgment as to liability
in its entirety. Consequently, the Court finds that the issuemségdes for DirecTV'§ 605 clam
against MCI should be decided outside of the summary judgment contéxtarithe issue of
damages for the Spinas’ potential vicarious liability urgl@®5 and for DirecTV'§ 2511 claim
is not yet ripe for decision, as those claims remain pending.

.
CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court:
e DENIES Defendants’ Motion for Sanctiongzi[ing No. 103, finding that nei-

ther DirecTV nor its counsel engaged in any sanctionable conelating to
theseconddeposition of DirecTV’s Rule 30(b)(6) witness;
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e GRANTS IN PART DirecTV’s Motion for Summary Judgmenti[ing No.
79, to the extent that it finds that MClI is liableasnatter of law for violating
8§ 605;

e DENIES IN PART DirecTV's Motion for Summary Judgmentziling No.
79], to the extent that it finds that genuine issues of material factyate sum-
mary judgment on DirecTV'wicarious liabilityclaim against Victor Spina and
William Spina undeg 605; and

e DENIESIN ITS ENTIRETY Defendants’ CrosMotion for Summary Judg-
ment, [Filing No. 104, finding that

o MCl is liable as a matter of law for violatirgge05;

0 genuine issues of material fact preclude summary judgment on DiieecT
vicarious liability claim against Victor Spina and William Spinander§
605;

0 genuine issues of material fgmteclude summary judgment on DirecTV'’s
claimagainst all Defendants for liability unde2511; and

o DirecTV does not assert a separate claim étain types of damages and
it is premature to rule on th@ropriety of those damages at the summary
judgmentstage.
The claims remaining in this action are: (1) vicarious liability fiotation of47 U.S.C 8
605 against Victor Spina and William Spina; and (2) violationl8fU.S.C.8 2511 against all
Defendants. Additionally, the issue of what damages Direcévtitied to for MCI's violations
of 47 U.S.C8605remans. The Court requests that the Magistrate Judgéer with the parties

to address the possibility of an agreed resolution, or to establistedusetior trial. No partial

final judgment shall issue at this time.

Date: 8/30/2016 Qnm(m'%ow Z%E:oev\-

Hon. Jane Magnus-Stinson, Judge
United States District Court
Southern District of Indiana

Distribution via ECF only to all counsel of record
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